
 
DC1 891700v.1 

WASHINGTON LEGAL FOUNDATION 
2009 MASSACHUSETTS AVENUE, NW 

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20036 
(202) 588-0302 

 
 

November 6, 2006 
 

By Facsimile [301-796-9877] 
   and First-Class Mail 
 
Thomas Abrams, RPh, MBA 
Director  
Division of Drug Marketing, Advertising, and Communications 
10903 New Hampshire Ave. 
Bldg 22 Rm 1400 
Silver Spring, MD 20993-0002 
 
Re:  ANDA # 87-388 
 MD-GASTROVIEW® (Diatrizoate Meglumine and Diatrizoate Sodium Solution 
 USP) 
 NDA # 20-937 
 OptiMARK® (Gadoversetimide Injection) 
 MACMIS ID # 14453 
 
Dear Mr. Abrams: 
 
On October 13, 2006, the Division of Drug Marketing, Advertising, and Communications 
(DDMAC) sent a warning letter to Mallinckrodt Inc. (Mallinckrodt) alleging that exhibit booth 
panels for MD-GASTROVIEW® (Diatrizoate Meglumine and Diatrizoate Sodium Solution 
USP) and OptiMARK® (Gadoversetamide Injection) “misbrand the drugs in violation of” the 
Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (FDCA), 21 U.S.C. §§ 352(a) and 321(n).  For the 
reasons discussed below, we urge DDMAC to withdraw the warning letter and to review its 
policies with respect to the issues raised by this letter.   
 
Problematic Policy of Requiring Multiple Disclosures of Risk Information 

 
In the warning letter to Mallinckrodt, DDMAC alleges that exhibit booth panels “are misleading 
because they present effectiveness claims but fail to reveal any risk information related to the use 
of” MD-GASTROVIEW and OptiMARK.  DDMAC acknowledges, however, that the panels 
clearly stated “See representative in booth for full prescribing information.”  Thus, the audience 
for the panels had immediate access to the full prescribing information, which contained all of 
the information that FDA determined was necessary for safe and effective use of the products, 
including risk information, presented in precisely the manner that FDA requires.  DDMAC’s 
contention that the reference to and immediate availability of the prescribing information is 
insufficient is without regulatory or legal support.  Further, DDMAC presents no evidence that 
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anyone who viewed the panels was misled by having the risk information available from the 
booth representative.  
 
DDMAC’s position on the double disclosure of risk information is problematic for procedural 
reasons as well.  At one time, FDA’s view was that promotional communications for prescription 
drugs had only to refer the reader to the location of complete risk information, which could 
appear on a separate page.  See 50 Fed. Reg. 36,677 (1985) (“[T]he brief summary is intended to 
ensure a ‘fair balance’ between a drug’s potential benefits and risks in all prescription drug 
advertisements.”).  As of 1996, the agency’s position had changed.  See 61 Fed. Reg. 48,708 
(1996) (FDA “traditionally” has required risk information in the body of the advertisement).  
FDA’s failure to use notice-and-comment rulemaking or to provide a reasoned analysis justifying 
this change of position renders its current stance invalid.  See Motor Vehicle Mfrs. Ass’n v. State 
Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 463 U.S. 29, 42 (1983); Alaska Prof. Hunters Ass’n, Inc. v. Federal 
Aviation Admin., 177 F.3d 1030, 1033-34 (D.C. Cir. 1999). 

 
Inappropriate Use of “Regulatory History” 
 
It is inappropriate for DDMAC to cite as “regulatory history” an untitled letter sent to Palatin 
Technologies, Inc. (Palatin) on February 16, 2006, and sent by copy to Mallinckrodt, and an 
untitled letter sent to Mallinckrodt on November 1, 2004.  References to “regulatory history” can 
misleadingly imply that a company has engaged in a pattern of unlawful promotions when that is 
not, in fact, the case.  DDMAC’s apparent practice of citing earlier enforcement correspondence 
is particularly inappropriate where, as is the case here, the earlier correspondence at issue was 
directed at an entirely separate entity.  Although Mallinckrodt marketed NeutroSpec™ [Kit for 
the Preparation of Technetium (99m Tc) fanolesomab], which was the subject of the letter issued 
to Palatin, the NeutroSpec letter offered no evidence of Mallinckrodt’s role in the alleged 
violations.  Moreover, DDMAC offers no evidence concerning Mallinckrodt’s or Palatin’s 
responses to the earlier letters or how those matters were resolved.  Under these circumstances, it 
is completely inappropriate for DDMAC to use citations to earlier correspondence, thereby 
implying that Mallinckrodt is a repeat offender.    
 
Further, the earlier letters were untitled letters, which means that the alleged violations did not 
meet the “regulatory significance” standard articulated in FDA’s enforcement policies.  FDA, 
Regulatory Procedures Manual § 4.1.1 (2004) 
(http://www.fda.gov/ora/compliance_ref/rpm/pdf/ch4.pdf).  DDMAC’s characterization of the 
alleged violations in the untitled letters as “similar violations” to those discussed in the warning 
letter is inconsistent with FDA’s own explanation of the difference between warning and untitled 
letters.    
 
We have raised the issue of problematic use of “regulatory history” with you on at least three 
other occasions:  June 30, 2005 (Lidoderm®); September 9, 2005 (Lumigan®); and January 17, 
2006 (Loprox® Shampoo).   We have received no response and are therefore extremely 
concerned about DDMAC’s continuing practice of characterizing pharmaceutical companies as 
“repeat offenders” without fully disclosing the circumstances and facts surrounding each 
individual allegation.  This practice raises serious due process concerns.  We urge DDMAC to 
cease its problematic reliance on regulatory history. 
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No Authority to Seek Corrective Advertising 
 
DDMAC does not have the statutory authority to request that Mallinckrodt disseminate 
“corrective” advertising.  The FDCA does not include the authority to request “corrective” 
messages as one of the agency’s enforcement tools.  21 U.S.C. § 331 et seq.  We have previously 
advised DDMAC that its requests for corrective promotional messages are unauthorized, 
unconstitutional, and imprudent, but we have received no response.  We object to DDMAC’s 
continuing policy of requesting that pharmaceutical companies engage in “corrective” 
advertising without pointing to the statutory basis for these requests.  We again request that you 
address our concerns in writing. 
 
Conclusion and Requested Action 
 
We urge DDMAC to withdraw the warning letter sent to Mallinckrodt.  We further request that 
you cease the issuance of warning and untitled letters that raise the same problematic issues as 
those described above.  
 
The deficiencies described in this letter do not necessarily constitute an exhaustive list.  It is 
DDMAC’s responsibility to ensure that its actions comply with the First Amendment, and do not 
exceed FDA’s statutory authority. 
 
 

Sincerely, 
 
 
 

Richard A. Samp 
Chief Counsel 

 
cc:  Sheldon Bradshaw (GCF-1) 


